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Appraisal Regulation Sources

◦ Title XI of the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act of 1989 (“FIRREA”)

◦ Federal Banking Agencies’ regulations

◦ Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (“USPAP”)

◦ 2009 Truth in Lending, Regulation Z (12 CFR 226.36(b))
◦ Applicable to closed-end consumer principal dwelling loans

◦ 2010 Interagency Appraisal Guidelines

◦ 2011 Truth in Lending Act, Section 129E
◦ Added by Dodd Frank Act to impose appraisal independence requirements, applies to all consumer credit transactions secured by a consumer’s 

principal dwelling

◦ 2015 Interagency Guidelines for Appraisal Management Companies

◦ 2018 (April) Economic Growth and Regulatory Paperwork Reduction Act (EGRPRA) mandated appraisal rule update

◦ 2018 (May) Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief and Consumer Protection Act

3

Valuations:  Appraisals or Evaluations

◦ FIRREA of 1989 required Agencies to publish Appraisal standards for real estate transactions

◦ “Real Estate” defined as “an identified parcel or tract of land, including easements, rights of way, 
undivided or future interests and similar rights in a tract of land, but excluding mineral rights, 
timber rights or growing crops”

◦ “Appraisal” is a written statement, independently and impartially prepared by a licensed or certified 
appraiser including an opinion of a market value

◦ “Evaluations” are less formal valuations performed by someone with real estate expertise

4
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Real Estate Appraisal

◦ Written factual, accurate and adequately supported statement independently and impartially prepared by a 
qualified appraiser setting forth an opinion as to the market value of an adequately described property as of 
a specific date(s), supported by the presentation and analysis of relevant marketing information,  including 
but not limited to condition of the property, surrounding neighborhood, market trends and market value of 
the property

◦ Appraisals must meet 5 standards:
◦ Must conform with Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP)
◦ Must be written and contain sufficient information to support the opinion of value
◦ Must contain appropriate deductions and discounts for various factors (construction, unsold units, etc.)
◦ Must be based on market value
◦ Must be performed by a state-licensed or certified appraiser

5

Qualifying Business Loans (QBL)

◦ The Title XI appraisal regulations define ‘‘business loan’’ to mean ‘‘a loan or extension of credit to 
any corporation, general or limited partnership, business trust, joint venture, pool, syndicate, sole 
proprietorship, or other business entity.’’ OCC: 12 CFR 34.42(d); Board: 12 CFR 225.62(d); and 
FDIC: 12 CFR 323.2(d). 

◦ QBLs are business loans that are real estate-related financial transactions and that are not 
dependent on the sale of, or rental income derived from, real estate as the primary source of 
repayment and the loans are for less than $1,000,000.

6
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Single 1 – 4 Family Valuation Requirements

7

Multiple 1- 4 Family Property Valuation Requirements

8
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Commercial Real Estate Valuation Requirements

9

Reconsideration of Value (ROV)
◦ Any lender or authorized employee or agent of a lender may request a reconsideration. A borrower may also request the lender to 

reconsider the value conclusion.  As with appraisals, the borrower is not allowed to communicate directly with the request for a
different value due to independence standards.

◦ A reconsideration of value could be:

◦ A request to correct deficiencies;

◦ A method of providing missing or originally ignored information to the appraiser;

◦ A method to ask the appraiser to consider new information unavailable during the original appraisal;

◦ A completely new appraisal assignment;

◦ An unethical attempt to influence the appraiser into increasing the value or hiding detrimental conditions, and/or;

◦ All of the above.

10

Page 133



Fair Lending & Fair Banking Update

IBC 2nd Quarter Compliance Update * May 2022

Missing or New Information and Appraisal Deficiencies

◦ If there are deficiencies or critical information missing from the appraisal, then the client has every right, if not an 
obligation, to request that the appraisal be corrected. It’s possible that once the correct or missing information is added 
to the appraisal, the value will change. If that is the case then the appraiser should correct and reissue a new 
appraisal. 

◦ If the client would like the appraiser to consider new information, information unavailable at the time of the original 
appraisal, then the appraiser has received a request for a new appraisal assignment. The request for a new analysis 
of the appraisal problem is a request for a new appraisal despite what terms or phrases the client uses. This is 
an update of a prior assignment. 
◦ From USPAP AO-3: “Regardless of the nomenclature used, when a client seeks a more current value or analysis of a property that was the 

subject of a prior assignment, this is not an extension of that prior assignment that was already completed – it is simply a new assignment. 

11

HUD FAQ

◦ A reconsideration of value is a request to the FHA Roster appraiser to reconsider the analysis and 
conclusions of his or her appraisal based on information that was not presented on the appraisal report, but 
was relevant to the appraisal and available to the appraiser in the normal course of business as of the 
effective date of the appraisal. Only the lender’s underwriter can request a reconsideration of value from the 
FHA Roster appraiser. 

◦ Question: In the course of reconsideration of value, what information can be presented to the appraiser? 

◦ Answer: Information regarding comparable sales, listings or under contract of sale properties that the FHA 
Roster appraiser did not cite in the appraisal report but was available to the appraiser in the normal course 
of business as of the effective date of the appraisal are appropriate data to be provided to the appraiser. (In 
other words, information that was available but the appraiser missed, which could impact the value or 
description) 

12
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HUD 4150.2; 4-9 Reconsideration of Appraised Value

◦ The underwriter may request reconsideration of the appraised value when new market data exists 
that may not have been reflected in the original appraisal. 

◦ The lender can select new comparables and request a reappraisal. This lender request must be in 
writing and maintained in the appraiser's work file. 

◦ It is the appraiser’s responsibility to decide whether to use the new comparables and perform the 
reappraisal.  If the comparables were available when the initial appraisal was performed, the 
lender may not offer pay for the reconsideration. 

◦ Before any request for reconsideration of value may be accepted, the appraisal report and 
evidence to support a higher value must be reviewed by a HUD staff review appraiser or a Direct 
Endorsement mortgagee underwriter. 

13

Appraisal FAQ

◦ Question: May the appraiser modify his or her opinion of value after providing me the opinion of 
value in advance of receiving the report? 

◦ Answer: Yes, if the appraiser has new information that leads the appraiser to conclude, based on 
an independent, impartial and objective analysis, that a change is warranted. 

◦ Question: How do I get my appraisal report questions answered by the appraiser? 

◦ Answer: You must be the client, or the appraiser must have authorization from the client, in order 
for the appraiser to discuss the appraisal with you. 

14
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Interagency Task Force on Property Appraisal and 
Valuation Equity (“PAVE”)
◦ On June 1, 2021, President Biden directed U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) Secretary 

Marcia Fudge to lead a “first-of-its-kind interagency initiative to address inequity in home appraisals.” Secretary Fudge 
and White House Domestic Policy Council (“DPC”) Director Susan Rice established the Interagency Task Force on 
Property Appraisal and Valuation Equity (“PAVE”). 

◦ President Biden directed the PAVE Task Force to 
i. Evaluate the causes, extent, and consequences of appraisal bias, and 
ii. Establish a transformative set of recommendations to root out racial and ethnic bias in home valuations.

◦ PAVE is a first-of-its-kind interagency task force dedicated to ending discrimination in home valuations. The task force 
includes 13 federal agencies and offices and is chaired by Director of the Domestic Policy Council Ambassador Susan 
E. Rice and the U.S. Housing and Urban Development Secretary Marcia L. Fudge.

◦ The “Identifying Bias and Barriers, Promoting Equity:  An Analysis of the USPAP Standards and Appraiser 
Qualifications Criteria” report was developed in response to the Appraisal Subcommittee and the Council on 
Licensure, Enforcement and Regulation (“CLEAR”) initiative, and the Appraisal Subcommittee, and the authors of 
this report have closely coordinated to share findings with the President’s PAVE initiative. 

15
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Reconsideration of Value (ROV) Process
“Identifying Bias and Barriers, Promoting Equity”
◦ A “reconsideration of value” is the term used to describe the ad hoc process by which borrowers 

challenge appraisal values. It is a process that varies highly from lender to lender and that is 
without any legal structure. 

◦ Fair housing advocates indicate that lack of fair consideration and clear communication in the 
process often occurs at the beginning of fair housing claim situations. 

◦ Government, the GSEs, lenders, and The Appraisal Foundation should develop standards and 
guidance for appraisers regarding the fair handling of and increasing the transparency and 
accountability in the Reconsideration of Value process. 

17

PAVE Task Force on Appraisals 
https://pave.hud.gov/about
◦ One of the main reasons that the Task Force is focused on home appraisals is because of how 

appraisals can impact the homeownership and wealth gaps. An appraisal is an important part of 
the homebuying process, as it establishes the value of the property for a home loan. Simply 
stated, fair and accurate appraisals directly impact national homeownership rates. More than 50 
years since the Fair Housing Act’s passage, the racial homeownership gap is wider than ever: in 
2021, the Black homeownership rate reached only 44%, while the white homeownership rate 
reached 74%.

◦ The Task Force believes that if the Federal Government advances equity in the appraisal process, 
it can also make substantial progress toward closing the racial homeownership and wealth gap.

18
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Agency Actions to Advance Valuation Equity
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AUTO LENDING
Priority for Regulatory Review

25

Auto Lending

◦ Direct Lending occurs when the consumer seeks financing directly from the financial institution.

◦ Indirect Lending occurs when the auto dealers facilitate financing by a third party such as a 
financial institution, a nonbank affiliate of a financial institution, an independent nonbank, or a 
“captive” nonbank (an auto lender whose primary business is to finance the purchase of a specific 
manufacturer’s automobiles).
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Auto Lending Key Issues

◦ Unfair, Deceptive or Abusive Acts or Practices (UDAAP) in all aspects of consumer transactions, 
from product development, marketing and all the way to repayment or repossession.

◦ Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA), with particular attention regarding spousal signatures or 
guarantees, high pressure sales techniques that may result in disparate treatment on a prohibited 
basis, documentation of decisions and required consumer notifications.

◦ Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA), with particular attention to obtaining and using consumer 
reports, red flags program, responses to identity theft affidavits, and protection of consumer’s 
financial information.

◦ Servicemembers Civil Relief Act (SCRA), with special emphasis on collection activity and 
repossession.

Indirect Auto Lending Monitoring Opportunities

◦ Ensure compliance with ECOA, particularly prohibitions regarding guarantors and spousal 
signatures, must be maintained

◦ UDAAP risk associated with sales of Aftermarket Products can be controlled by monitoring dealer 
performance

◦ Rationale for costs charged to customers for services such as the Lease Purchase Option should 
be well documented and periodically reassessed against industry norms and peers

◦ Tracking customer complaints by dealer or vendor and combining with other metrics in 
performance reports greatly increases precision and provides a holistic view of risk
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Advertising and Marketing

◦ Co-Marketing with Dealerships
◦ Clearly establish the relationship the bank has with dealerships to advertise and offer loans and leases to consumer 

customers

◦ Advertising content oversight

◦ Target market development

◦ Ensure no fair lending prohibited discrimination

◦ Utilization of social media to target the advertisements

Advertising and Marketing

◦ Truth in Lending Act and Reg Z

◦ Consumer Leasing Act and Reg M

◦ Ensure advertised credit terms are or will be available and are clearly and conspicuously disclosed

◦ Finance charge rate stated:
◦ Annual percentage rate (APR), using that term or abbreviation

◦ If potential for increased APR post-closing, must be clearly disclosed

◦ APR must be more prominent than any other periodic rate disclosed, if any

◦ When triggering terms are used, all triggered items must be disclosed
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Closed-End Credit Advertisements

◦ Triggering Terms  Any one or more of these trigger ALL of the triggered terms
◦ The amount or percentage of any downpayment.

◦ The number of payments or period of repayment.

◦ The amount of any payment.

◦ The amount of any finance charge.

◦ Triggered Terms  If any triggering terms are present, ALL of these required
◦ The amount or percentage of the downpayment.

◦ The terms of repayment, which reflect the repayment obligations over the full term of the loan, including any balloon 
payment.

◦ The “annual percentage rate,” using that term, and, if the rate may be increased after consummation, that fact.

Reg Z Credit Advertising Rules 

(1) The amount or percentage of any downpayment.
(2) The number of payments or period of repayment.
(3) The amount of any payment.

(4) The amount of any finance charge.

(1) The amount or percentage of the downpayment.

(2) The terms of repayment, which reflect the repayment obligations over the 
full term of the loan, including any balloon payment.

(3) The “annual percentage rate,” using that term, and, if applicable, fact that 
the rate may increase after consummation.

Trigger 
Terms

Triggered 
Disclosures
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Closed-End Loan Advertising

◦ APR need not be spelled out
◦ Or disclosed to any particular decimal places

◦ But interest rate may not be disclosed more prominently (interest rate may not be disclosed alone)

◦ Numerical disclosures of the terms trigger 
◦ Or if you can figure the number from the ad's information (e.g. We finance up to 90% LTV)

◦ Notice what is not a triggering term: APR
◦ But if you advertise an APR that may rise after consummation, you must have a statement of that fact

◦ You may also state the interest rate, but not more prominently than the APR

Reg Z Advertising and Marketing

◦ If an advertisement appearing in a catalog, electronically, or other multiple-page advertisement 
uses a table or schedule to comply with the requirements, ensure the table includes all 
appropriate disclosures for a representative scale of amounts up to the level of the more 
commonly sold higher-priced automobile offered

◦ If TV or radio ads use triggering terms, ensure the ad provides the additional terms either by 
clearly and conspicuously stating: 
◦ Each of the additional required terms; or 

◦ The “annual percentage rate” and, if the rate may increase after consummation, provide a toll-free number, or any 
telephone number that allows a consumer to reverse the phone charges when calling, along with a reference that 
such number may be used to obtain additional information. 
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Reg M Lease Advertising Rules 

(1) Amount of any payment, 

(2) Statement of any capitalized cost reduction (down 
payment),  

(3) Other payments required at lease signing or delivery, or

(4) That no such payment is required.

(1) Total amounts due at signing or delivery, 

(2) The number, amounts & due dates of payments, 

(3) Security deposit information, and 

(4) The fact that additional charges may be imposed before the end of 
the term

Trigger 
Terms

Triggered 
Disclosures

FTC FCRA Interpretive Letters

◦ The “Gowen Letter”(1999) addressed this issue.   
◦ “Your questions raise the issue of whether a creditor in a closed end credit transaction may exploit consumer 

reports obtained for "review" purposes in order to market its products or services. In the circumstances you 
described, we believe the answer is ‘no.’" 

◦ No permissible purpose for cross-selling 
◦ “Second, the credit bureau must, pursuant to Section 607(a), require the creditor to "certify the purposes for which 

the information is sought, and certify that the information will be used for no other purpose." (emphasis added). 
Because Section 604(a) provides no authority for a creditor (or any party) to use a consumer report for marketing 
purposes, a creditor would violate its certification by using an existing report in such a manner.” 

◦ https://www.ftc.gov/policy/advisory-opinions/advisory-opinion-gowen-04-29-99

Page 146



Fair Lending & Fair Banking Update

IBC 2nd Quarter Compliance Update * May 2022

Cross-Selling is NOT a Permissible Purpose

◦ When a customer requests a specific account, you are authorized to pull credit to be used for 
THAT ACCOUNT!  You are not allowed to share that report around the bank unless the customer 
authorizes you to share it. 

◦ “Account review” is a permissible purpose for an existing account.  But you should not use a 
consumer report obtained for an “account review” for another purpose 

◦ Obtain the consumer’s advance written authorization that specifically grants the right to share the 
information (cross-sell) before you re-purpose that consumer report.
◦ Form for customer to check the box beside products they are interested in

Auto Lending UDAAP Issues

◦ Unfair or Deceptive Acts or Practices (UDAP)/Unfair, Deceptive, or Abusive Acts or Practices 
(UDAAP) 
◦ UDAP defined by the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) Act and is enforced by the prudential regulators (OCC, 

FRB, FDIC)
◦ UDAAP established by the Dodd-Frank Act and is enforced by the CFPB

◦ Issues:
◦ Targeted consumer market must respectfully shape the ads to ensure understandable to targeted individuals
◦ Advertising: the “4 Ps”: prominence, placement, presentation, proximity

◦ Use of the word “Free” is prohibited unless absolutely FREE!
◦ Add-on products must be clearly explained
◦ Bait and switch offers must be carefully avoided
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UDAP/UDAAP Comparison Chart

FTC & DFA’s Unfair FTC’s Deceptive DFA’s Abusive
Act or practice is likely to cause 

substantial injury
Representation, omission or practice 
misleads or is likely to mislead the 

customer

Materially interferes with consumer’s 
ability to understand the product or 

service

Injury cannot be reasonably avoided by 
the consumer or commercial entity

Act is deceptive to a person acting 
reasonably

Considers the target audience

Advantage taken of consumer’s lack of 
understanding of costs, risks or 

conditions

Injury is not outweighed by benefits to 
customers or to competition

Representation, omission or practice is 
material and impacts person’s conduct

or decision
Materiality is frequently presumed!

Taking advantage of the consumer’s 
Inability to protect consumer’s own 
interests; Considers the targeted 

audience’s characteristics

Taking advantage of consumer’s 
reliance on the premise the bank would 
be acting in consumer’s best interestViolation can be any one or a combination!

Ancillary Products and Services

◦ In addition to the actual vehicle, auto dealers and finance companies offer ancillary, or add-on, 
products and services at vehicle purchase. 
◦ Guaranteed Auto Protection or Guaranteed Asset Protection (GAP)

◦ Extended Warranty

◦ Credit Insurance

◦ Credit life insurance

◦ Credit disability insurance

◦ Involuntary unemployment insurance

◦ Credit property insurance
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Add-On Products and Services

◦ Guaranteed Auto Protection or Guaranteed Asset Protection (GAP) is a product designed to cover 
the difference, or “gap,” between the loan amount owed and the amount received from auto 
insurer in the event the vehicle is stolen, damaged, or totaled.  Two types of GAP products in the 
market:
◦ A “GAP waiver” is a contractual agreement between the consumer and the finance company to cancel the debt in 

the event the vehicle is stolen, damaged, or totaled. The agreement typically appears in the retail installment sales 
contract or as an addendum to the sales contract. Most lease contracts offered by a captive finance company will 
typically include a GAP waiver.

◦ A “GAP waiver insurance” is an agreement between a consumer and an insurer. With this product, the consumer 
agrees to pay the insurer premiums for coverage and in return, the insurer agrees to pay the consumer the “gap” 
amount in the event of a total loss. Upon receiving this payout, the consumer will typically use it to pay off the 
remaining balance on the auto loan.

Add-On Products and Services, cont.

◦ An Extended Warranty is a product that covers the cost of some repairs either in addition to or after the 
manufacturer’s warranty ends. These products typically exclude routine maintenance, such as oil changes 
and tire replacements.

◦ Credit insurance is a product in which the provider agrees to make the consumer’s auto payments upon the 
occurrence of certain situations, such as death or disability. There are 4 main types of credit insurance:
◦ Credit life insurance – pays off all or some of the outstanding balance on the loan in the event the consumer dies;

◦ Credit disability insurance – makes payments on the loan if the consumer becomes ill or injured and, as a result, cannot 
work;

◦ Involuntary unemployment insurance – makes payments on the loan if the consumer becomes unemployed; and

◦ Credit property insurance – protects the car secured by the loan from events such as theft, accident, or natural disasters. 
This differs from property insurance.
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Add-On Products or Services, cont.

◦ Financing Add-Ons 
◦ Institution’s oversight – Popular limits number of add-on products for its indirect car loans

◦ Suitability and Benefit of Add-Ons
◦ Were add-ons immediately activated upon purchase?

◦ Billing was NOT before benefit eligibility period?

◦ How many customers purchasing the add-ons actually requested promised add-on benefit?

◦ How many customers purchasing the add-ons actually benefited from the service promised by the sales pitch?

CFPB Compliance Bulletin 2016-03

◦ CFPB Warns Financial Companies About Sales and Production Incentives That May Lead to Fraud or Consumer 
Abuse:  Unchecked Incentives Can Produce Unauthorized Account Openings, Deceptive Sales Tactics, and Other 
Illegal Practices - November 28, 2016 
◦ www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-warns-financial-companies-about-sales-and-production-incentives-may-lead-fraud-

or-consumer-abuse/

◦ Tying bonuses or employment status to unrealistic sales goals or to the terms of transactions may intentionally or 
unintentionally encourage illegal practices such as unauthorized account openings, unauthorized opt-ins to overdraft 
services, deceptive sales tactics, and steering consumers into less favorable products. The CFPB bulletin outlines 
various steps that institutions can and should take to detect, prevent, and correct such production incentives so that 
they do not lead to abuse of consumers.

◦ “Tying bonuses and job security to business goals that are unrealistic or not properly monitored can lead to illegal 
practices like unauthorized account openings and deceptive sales tactics,” said CFPB Director Richard Cordray. “The 
CFPB is warning companies to make sure that their incentives operate to reward quality customer service, not fraud 
and abuse.”
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Dangerous Sales and Production Incentives

◦ CFPB's bulletin signals that regulators will examine suitability

◦ “An entity’s CMS should reflect the risk, nature, and significance of the incentive programs to 
which they apply. Accordingly, the strictest controls will be necessary where incentives concern 
products or services less likely to benefit consumers or that have a higher potential to lead to 
consumer harm, reward outcomes that do not necessarily align with consumer interests, or 
implicate a significant proportion of employee compensation.” 

CFPB Compliance Bulletin 2016-03

Risks to Consumers from Incentives

◦ Despite their potential benefits, incentive programs can pose risks to consumers, especially when 
they create an unrealistic culture of high-pressure targets.  When such programs are not carefully 
and properly implemented and monitored, they may create incentives for employees or service 
providers to pursue overly aggressive marketing, sales, servicing, or collections tactics.

◦ Depending on the facts and circumstances, such incentives may lead to outright violations of 
Federal consumer financial law and other risks to the institution, such as public enforcement, 
supervisory actions, private litigation, reputational harm, and potential alienation of existing and 
future customers. 

CFPB Compliance Bulletin 2016-03

Page 151



Fair Lending & Fair Banking Update

IBC 2nd Quarter Compliance Update * May 2022

CFPB’s Examples of Problems: Sales Goals

◦ Sales goals may encourage employees, either directly or indirectly, to open accounts or enroll 
consumers in services without their knowledge or consent. Depending on the type of account, this 
may further result in, for example: 
◦ Improperly incurred fees; 

◦ Improper collections activities; and/or 

◦ Negative effects on consumer credit scores. 

◦ Sales benchmarks may encourage employees or service providers to market a product 
deceptively to consumers who may not benefit from or even qualify for it.

CFPB Compliance Bulletin 2016-03

CFPB’s Examples of Problems: Compensation

◦ Paying compensation based on the terms or conditions of transactions (such as interest rate) may 
encourage employees or service providers to overcharge consumers, to place them in less 
favorable products than they qualify for, or to sell them more credit or services than they had 
requested or needed; 

◦ Paying more compensation for some types of transactions than for others that were or could have 
been offered to meet consumer needs, which could lead employees or service providers to steer 
consumers to transactions not in their interests

CFPB Compliance Bulletin 2016-03
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CFPB’s Examples of Problems: Unrealistic Quotas

◦ Unrealistic quotas to sign consumers up for financial services or add-on products may incentivize 
dealers to achieve this result without actual consent or by means of deception. 

◦ The bank significantly reduces the risk of this by limiting the number of add-on products for its 
dealer loans.

Unfair and Abusive Sales Practices

◦ In another public enforcement action, a Bureau investigation revealed that thousands of bank 
employees had opened unauthorized deposit and credit card accounts to satisfy sales goals and 
earn financial rewards under the bank’s incentives. 

◦ Specifically, the Bureau found that employees engaged in “simulated funding” by opening 
hundreds of thousands of deposit accounts without consumers’ knowledge or consent, which 
caused consumers to incur improper fees. 

◦ The Bureau also found that employees issued tens of thousands of unauthorized credit cards that 
incurred improper fees, opened debit cards and created PINs to activate them without consumers’ 
knowledge or consent, and enrolled consumers in online banking services using false email 
addresses. 
CFPB Compliance Bulletin 2016-03

Page 153



Fair Lending & Fair Banking Update

IBC 2nd Quarter Compliance Update * May 2022

CFPB Expectations

◦ The CFPB expects supervised entities that choose to utilize incentives to institute effective controls for the 
risks these programs may pose to consumers, including oversight of both employees and service providers 
involved in these programs. 

◦ As the CFPB has emphasized repeatedly, a robust compliance management system (CMS) is necessary to 
detect and prevent violations of Federal consumer financial law. 

◦ An entity’s CMS should reflect the risk, nature, and significance of the incentive programs to which they 
apply. Accordingly, the strictest controls will be necessary where 
◦ Incentives concern products or services less likely to benefit consumers or 
◦ That have a higher potential to lead to consumer harm, 
◦ Reward outcomes that do not necessarily align with consumer interests, or
◦ Implicate a significant proportion of employee compensation. 

CFPB Compliance Bulletin 2016-03

Application and Origination Disclosures

◦ Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA) and Regulation B

◦ Truth in Lending Act (TILA) and Regulation Z

◦ Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA) and Regulation V

◦ Gramm Leach Bliley Act (GLBA) and Regulation P

◦ Consumer Leasing Act (CLA) and Regulation M

◦ Electronic Fund Transfer Act (EFTA) and Regulation E
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ECOA and Reg B

◦ The ECOA makes it illegal for a “creditor” to discriminate in any aspect of a credit transaction 
because of race, color, religion, national origin, sex, marital status, age, receipt of income from 
any public assistance program, or the exercise, in good faith, of a right under the Consumer Credit 
Protection Act.

◦ The ECOA defines a “creditor” to include not only “any person who regularly extends, renews, or 
continues credit,” but also “any assignee of an original creditor who participates in the decision to 
extend, renew, or continue credit.”

◦ Reg B states that “creditor” means “a person, who, in the ordinary course of business, regularly 
participates in the decision of whether or not to extend credit” and expressly includes an 
“assignee, transferee, or subrogee who so participates.”

ECOA Liability of Indirect Auto Lenders from
Markup and Compensation Policies
◦ An additional consideration for auto lenders covered as creditors under the ECOA is whether and under 

what circumstances they are liable for pricing disparities on a prohibited basis. 

◦ When pricing disparities exist within an indirect auto lender’s portfolio, lenders may be liable under the legal 
doctrines of both disparate treatment and disparate impact.

◦ An indirect auto lender’s markup and compensation policies may alone be sufficient to trigger liability under 
the ECOA if the lender regularly participates in a credit decision and its policies result in discrimination. 

◦ The disparities triggering liability could arise either within a particular dealer’s transactions or across 
different dealers within the lender’s portfolio. Thus, an indirect auto lender that permits dealer markup and 
compensates dealers on that basis may be liable for these policies and practices if they result in disparities 
on a prohibited basis.
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Indirect Auto Lending Compliance

◦ CFPB Bulletin 2013-02, Indirect Auto Lending Compliance with the Equal Credit Opportunity Act 
◦ Even non-bank indirect auto lender practices likely make them “creditors” under ECOA and subject to CFPB 

oversight because they regularly participate in credit decisions, including setting the terms of the loan

◦ A dealer or lender’s discretionary markup and compensation policies can trigger liability under ECOA

◦ Indirect auto lenders can mitigate the risk of discrimination resulting from dealer markup and compensation policies

Indirect Auto Fair Lending Concerns

◦ Using social media directed marketing programs can expose the bank to fair lending issues when 
filtering to whom ads are displayed based on prohibited bases (e.g., religious views, ethnicity, 
gender)

◦ Different treatment by dealers of applicants on a prohibited basis can occur by manipulating car 
values and aggressive sale of add-ons and other high risk practices.

◦ A significant risk in taking high volumes of applications is providing fair and timely treatment to all 
applicants without regard to any prohibited basis of discrimination.

◦ Utilize a strong automated decision making system with limited dealer or lender discretion to 
significantly mitigate the risk of inconsistent treatment of customers.
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Indirect Lending Risk Management

◦ Review and address complaints regarding potential pricing discrimination

◦ Review policies, procedures, rate sheets, and dealer agreements to determine the level of discretion
provided in loan pricing

◦ Review dealer agreements to determine whether financial incentives are based on the price of the loans

◦ Provide training to relevant parties

◦ If there is elevated risk and sufficient volume, conduct a statistical analysis of the loans. The analysis should
review loans:
◦ By majority minority census tract, ethnicity, and gender

◦ With mark-ups, with negative mark-ups, and with no mark-ups together

◦ Within dealers and across dealers on a rolling periodic basis

Indirect Lending Dealer Risk Management

◦ Track dealer performance by pricing and other sale attributes to identify dealers whose practices
differ from the norm (i.e., excessive percentages of transactions with maximum add-ons,
especially in higher risk tiers, etc.).

◦ Monitor dealer performance by timeliness, exceptions, and quality of purchased contracts (credit
performance, fraud trends, add-ons cancelled soon after closing, etc.).

◦ Measure and compare dealer performance by sales results, control for market issues and identify
any excessive sales patterns by geographic markets for deeper review (i.e., incorporate
demographics and census tract income level criteria into market analysis, etc.).
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Indirect Lending Dealer Risk Management

◦ Monitor denials and counter-offers to ensure consistent treatment on a prohibited basis.

◦ Monitor dealer performance to include analysis of pricing and other sale attributes, particularly with
respect to add-ons, to identify dealers potentially treating consumers differently on a prohibited
basis.

◦ Monitor complaints of discouragement of applications for credit

◦ Monitor dealers marketing efforts for potential discrimination

Artificial Intelligence Considerations

◦ Artificial intelligence (AI) provides an opportunity to transform how credit and risk are allocated,
and to create fairer, more inclusive systems.

◦ Al can help avoid the traditional credit reporting and scoring system that perpetuates bias, making
it a unique opportunity to alter the status quo.

◦ However, AI could easily worsen existing bias, creating cycles that reinforce biased credit
allocation while making discrimination in lending even harder to identify.

◦ The goal is to incorporate new data and harness AI to expand credit to consumers who need it on
better terms than are currently provided. It builds on our existing system's dual goals of pricing
financial services based on the true risk the individual consumer poses while aiming to prevent
discrimination (e.g., race, gender, DNA, marital status, etc.).
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CFPB SUPERVISORY HIGHLIGHTS, ISSUE 26 (SPRING 2022)

◦ The findings included in this report cover examinations completed between July 2021 and December 2021
in the areas of auto servicing, consumer reporting, credit card account management, debt collection,
deposits, mortgage origination, prepaid accounts, remittances, and student loan servicing.

◦ To maintain the anonymity of the supervised institutions discussed in Supervisory Highlights, references to
institutions generally are in the plural and the related findings may pertain to one or more institutions. This
edition of Supervisory Highlights also summarizes recent developments in the Bureau’s supervision
program and remedial actions.

◦ The Bureau continues to examine auto loan servicing activities, primarily to assess whether entities have
engaged in any unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices (UDAAPs) prohibited by the Consumer
Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA).2
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CFPB Bulletin 2022-05:  UDAPs That Impede Consumer 
Reviews
◦ Reviews of products and services help to promote fair, transparent, and competitive markets. When firms frustrate the

ability of consumers to post honest reviews of products and services that they use, they may be engaged in conduct
prohibited by the Consumer Financial Protection Act (CFPA). The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (Bureau) is
issuing this bulletin to remind regulated entities of the CFPA’s requirements and explain how the Bureau intends to
exercise its enforcement and supervisory authorities on this issue.

◦ Numerous studies and surveys have confirmed the importance of online reviews across the economy. For example,
one prominent study estimated that a one-star rating increase on 2 Yelp.com translated to an increase of 5 to 9% in
revenues for a restaurant. Another study found that a one-point boost in a hotel’s online ratings on travel sites is tied to
an 11% jump in room rates, on average. To date, academic research has not focused specifically on markets for
consumer financial products and services. But online reviews are also commonplace in many of those markets, and
the Bureau expects them to play an increasing role in helping consumers choose between financial providers.

◦ This can create an incentive for dishonest market participants to attempt to manipulate the review process, rather than
compete based on the value of their services, which can frustrate a competitive marketplace.
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Patti Joyner

From: Consumer Financial Protection Bureau <donotreply@info.consumerfinance.gov> on 
behalf of Consumer Financial Protection Bureau

Sent: Tuesday, April 12, 2022 8:39 AM
To: patti.joyner@finsolinc.com
Subject: CFPB Charges TransUnion and Senior Executive John Danaher with Violating Law 

Enforcement Order

 

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE: 
April 12, 2022 

CONTACT: 
Office of Media Relations 
press@cfpb.gov 

CFPB Charges TransUnion and Senior 
Executive John Danaher with Violating 

Law Enforcement Order 
TransUnion deployed digital dark patterns to dupe Americans into 

subscription plans 

Washington, D.C. – Today, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) is filing 
a lawsuit against TransUnion, two of its subsidiaries, and longtime executive John 
Danaher for violating a 2017 law enforcement order. The order was issued to stop the 
company from engaging in deceptive marketing, regarding its credit scores and other 
credit-related products. After the order went into effect, TransUnion continued its 
unlawful behavior, disregarded the order’s requirements, and continued employing 
deceitful digital dark patterns to profit from customers. The Bureau’s complaint also 
alleges that TransUnion violated additional consumer financial protection laws. 

“TransUnion is an out-of-control repeat offender that believes it is above the law,” said 
CFPB Director Rohit Chopra. “I am concerned that TransUnion’s leadership is either 
unwilling or incapable of operating its businesses lawfully.” 

Chicago-based TransUnion (NYSE: TRU) is the parent company of one of the nation’s 
three largest credit reporting agencies. It is led by President and CEO Christopher A. 
Cartwright. TransUnion collects consumer credit information, including borrowers’ 
payment histories, debt loads, maximum credit limits, names and addresses of current 
creditors, and other elements of their credit relationships. 
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TransUnion collects information on 200 million individuals, and the company claims to 
profile “nearly every credit-active consumer in the United States.” TransUnion reported 
$3 billion in revenue for 2021.  

Through its subsidiary, TransUnion Interactive, the company also markets, sells, and 
provides credit-related products directly to the public, such as credit scores, credit 
reports, and credit monitoring. 

Credit reporting agencies are entrusted with generating accurate credit reports to help 
banks and other lenders determine an applicant’s creditworthiness. However, based on 
the nearly 150,000 consumer complaints about TransUnion that the Bureau received in 
2021 alone, TransUnion has struggled to maintain that trust. 

2017 Law Enforcement Order 

On January 3, 2017, the CFPB settled charges with TransUnion and its subsidiaries for 
deceptively marketing credit scores and credit-related products, including credit 
monitoring services. As part of the settlement, TransUnion agreed to pay $13.9 million 
in restitution to victims and $3 million in civil penalties. TransUnion and its subsidiaries 
also agreed to a formal law enforcement order that, among other things, required the 
credit reporting giant to warn consumers that lenders are not likely to use the scores 
they are supplying, obtain the express informed consent of customers for recurring 
payments for subscription products or services, and provide an easy way for people to 
cancel subscriptions. The order was binding on the company, its board of directors, 
and its executive officers. 

In October 2018, the CFPB commenced an examination of TransUnion. In May 2019, 
CFPB examiners informed TransUnion that it was violating multiple requirements of the 
order. In these instances, companies typically work constructively with the CFPB to 
make quick fixes and come into compliance. However, in June 2020, CFPB informed 
TransUnion that it was still violating the order and engaged in additional violations of 
law. 

Digital Dark Patterns  

Dark patterns are hidden tricks or trapdoors companies build into their websites to get 
consumers to inadvertently click links, sign up for subscriptions, or purchase products 
or services. Dark patterns can complicate or hide information, such as making it 
difficult for consumers to cancel a subscription service. 

As alleged in the complaint, TransUnion used an array of dark patterns to trick people 
into recurring payments and to make it difficult to cancel them. For example, under 
federal law, Americans are entitled to a free credit report from TransUnion through 
annualcreditreport.com. TransUnion asked consumers to provide credit card 
information that appeared to be part of an identity verification process. TransUnion 
then integrated deceptive buttons into the online interface that gave the impression that 
the consumer could also access a free credit score in addition to viewing their free 
credit report. In reality, clicking this button signed consumers up for recurring monthly 
charges using the credit card information they had provided. 

The only indication in the enrollment process that consumers were making some sort 
of purchase was through a fine print, low contrast disclosure, located off to the side of 
the enrollment form. The disclosure is inside an image that can take up to 30 seconds 

Page 163



3

longer to load than the rest of the material in the form. This dark pattern triggered 
thousands of complaints. 

For consumers looking for a way out of their subscriptions, TransUnion not only failed 
to offer a simple mechanism for cancellation, it actively made it arduous for consumers 
to cancel through clever uses of font and color on its website. 

John Danaher 

Since 2004, John T. Danaher served as a top executive of TransUnion Interactive, 
TransUnion’s unit that sold products and services directly to consumers and 
contributes roughly 18% of TransUnion’s overall revenue. According to filings with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, since 2016, Danaher received over $10 million 
from the sale of TransUnion stock shares that were acquired by him as part of his 
compensation package. 

Danaher was bound by the 2017 order, but he repeatedly failed to ensure that 
TransUnion took certain required steps and refrained from prohibited conduct. In fact, 
Danaher determined that complying with the order would reduce the company’s 
revenue, so he created a plan to delay or avoid having to implement the order. 

Among other things, Danaher determined that using an affirmative selection checkbox, 
required by the order to limit unintended subscription enrollments, would result in fewer 
enrollments into TransUnion’s Credit Monitoring service. Danaher instructed 
TransUnion Interactive to cease using the checkbox, which led to millions of 
enrollments. 

Danaher recently separated from TransUnion. 

Today’s Enforcement Action 

Repeat offender law enforcement is a top priority for the CFPB. The CFPB is filing a 
lawsuit in federal court charging TransUnion and John Danaher with multiple violations 
of law. Specifically, the Bureau’s lawsuit alleges that: 

 TransUnion and John Danaher flouted a formal law enforcement order: 
TransUnion and Danaher flouted the terms of the CFPB’s 2017 order. Rather 
than comply with the terms, the company continued to engage in deceptive 
conduct in its marketing and sale of credit-related products, it failed to provide 
required disclosures to make its marketing not misleading, and it failed to 
assemble and review consumer information and implement appropriate 
improvements to advertisements. Danaher’s actions also make him liable 
under the law. 

 TransUnion deceived customers through digital dark patterns: For its 
subscription products, TransUnion relied on digital dark patterns from 
beginning to end of the TransUnion customer experience. 

 TransUnion cheated customers through the marketing and sale of its 
credit-related products: TransUnion misrepresented numerous aspects of its 
products, services, and subscription plans, including that its credit monitoring 
service was a standalone credit score or credit report. 

Page 164



4

Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the CFPB 
has the authority to take action against institutions violating consumer financial laws, 
including engaging in deceptive acts or practices or violating the Electronic Fund 
Transfer Act, which establishes a basic framework of the rights, liabilities, and 
responsibilities as to electronic fund transfers. 

Today’s lawsuit alleges that TransUnion violated the Consumer Financial Protection 
Act of 2010 by failing to implement requirements of the Bureau’s 2017 order and by 
engaging in deceptive acts and practices. The CFPB also alleges that TransUnion 
violated Regulation V, which implements the Fair Credit Reporting Act, and the 
Electronic Fund Transfer Act. 

The CFPB is seeking monetary relief for consumers, such as restitution or return of 
funds, disgorgement or compensation for unjust gains, injunctive relief, and civil money 
penalties. The complaint is not a final finding or ruling that the defendants have 
violated the law. 

Individuals, including current or former employees, with information related to any 
misconduct by TransUnion can report it to the CFPB by e-mailing 
whistleblower@cfpb.gov or calling the Whistleblower Tip Line at (855) 695-7974. Learn 
more about being a whistleblower here.   

Read the complaint. 

Read the CFPB’s 2017 Order. 

### 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a 21st century agency that implements 
and enforces Federal consumer financial law and ensures that markets for consumer 
financial products are fair, transparent, and competitive. For more information, visit 
consumerfinance.gov 

 

Consumer Financial Protection Bureau · 1700 G Street, N.W. · Washington, D.C. 20552 
Log in to: Update Your Profile · Manage Your Email Subscriptions · Unsubscribe 

Contact Us 

  

  

This email was sent to patti.joyner@finsolinc.com using GovDelivery Communications Cloud, on behalf of: Consumer Financial Protection Bureau · 1700 G 
St. NW · Washington, D.C. 20552 
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1. Introduction
The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau’s (CFPB or Bureau) supervision program examines 
large banks and certain nonbanks for compliance with Federal consumer financial law.  A key 
focus of the program is detecting and assessing risks to consumers and to markets for consumer 
financial products and services.  Through its supervisory work, the Bureau promotes the 
development of markets for consumer financial products and services that are fair, transparent, 
and competitive.  One important goal of this work is to foster financial inclusion and racial 
equity.  The Bureau supervises and applies the law to entities subject to its authority in a 
consistent manner, regardless of charter type (bank or nonbank), market, or geographical 
location.    

The findings included in this report cover examinations completed between July 2021 and 
December 2021 in the areas of auto servicing, consumer reporting, credit card account 
management, debt collection, deposits, mortgage origination, prepaid accounts, remittances, 
and student loan servicing.  To maintain the anonymity of the supervised institutions discussed 
in Supervisory Highlights, references to institutions generally are in the plural and the related 
findings may pertain to one or more institutions.  This edition of Supervisory Highlights also 
summarizes recent developments in the Bureau’s supervision program and remedial actions. 

The CFPB publishes Supervisory Highlights to help institutions and the general public better 
understand how we examine institutions for compliance with Federal consumer financial laws.  
Supervisory Highlights summarizes existing legal requirements and violations identified in the 
course of the Bureau’s exercise of supervisory and enforcement authority.1 

We invite readers with questions or comments about Supervisory Highlights to contact us at 
CFPB_Supervision@cfpb.gov.  

1 If a supervisory matter is referred to the Office of Enforcement, Enforcement may cite additional violations based on 
these facts or uncover additional information that could impact the conclusion as to what violations may exist. 
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2.  Supervisory Observations 

2.1 Auto Servicing  
The Bureau continues to examine auto loan servicing activities, primarily to assess whether 
entities have engaged in any unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices (UDAAPs) prohibited 
by the Consumer Financial Protection Act of 2010 (CFPA).2   

2.1.1 Wrongful Repossessions 
Examiners have continued to identify wrongful repossessions at auto servicers.3  Recent 
examinations found that servicers engaged in unfair acts or practices when they repossessed 
vehicles after consumers took action that should have prevented the repossession.  This caused 
substantial injury by depriving borrowers of the use of their vehicles, and many consumers also 
experienced consequences such as missed work, expenses for alternative transportation, 
repossession-related fees, detrimental credit reporting, and vehicle damage during the 
repossession process.  Such injury was not reasonably avoidable because consumers had taken 
action they believed would halt repossession and there was no additional action the consumer 
could take to prevent the repossession.  Finally, the injury was not outweighed by countervailing 
benefits to the consumer or to competition.  In response to these findings, servicers are 
enhancing their procedures, including enhancing timely communications with repossession 
agents, and remediating consumers. 

2.1.2 Misleading consumers about the final loan payment 
amount after deferral  

Examiners found that servicers engaged in deceptive acts or practices when they misled 
consumers about the final loan payment amount after a deferral.4  Servicers may let consumers 
defer payments for many months when they experience financial difficulties, and the deferrals 
frequently increase the consumer’s final payment amount.  Servicers sent consumers notices 

2 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 
3 This unfair act or practice was previously described in Supervisory Highlights, Issue 16, Summer 2017; Supervisory 
Highlights, Issue 17, Summer 2018; and CFBP Bulletin 2022-04: Mitigating Harm from Repossession of Vehicles. 
These editions of Supervisory Highlights are available at: Supervisory Highlights | Consumer Financial Protection 
Bureau (consumerfinance.gov). The CFPB bulletin 2022-04 is available at: cfpb_bulletin-2022-04_mitigating-harm-
from-repossession-of-automobiles.pdf (consumerfinance.gov)  
4 Supervision examiners first identified this practice as a consumer risk in Supervisory Highlights, Issue 23 – Winter 

2021.  
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about their final payment amounts that included only imprecise conditional statements, such as 
stating that the final payment “may be larger.”  These conditional statements, without additional 
information about the magnitude of the final payment, likely misled consumers to believe the 
payment would only increase somewhat, when in fact the final payment likely would 
dramatically increase, by amounts multiple times larger than a normal payment.  The 
consumers’ interpretation of the representation was reasonable under the circumstances and 
was material because it likely impacted consumers’ financial planning.  

In response to these findings, servicers updated disclosure language and practices.  Some 
servicers included estimated final payment amounts on deferral notices while other servicers 
provided consumers with access to online calculator tools to track their final payment amounts. 
Additionally, some servicers conducted affirmative outreach when the final payment date 
approached to offer workout options that allowed borrowers to pay the large final payments in 
more than one installment.  

2.1.3 Overcharging for add-on products 
When consumers purchase an automobile, auto dealers and finance companies offer optional, 
add-on products that consumers can purchase.  Some of the add-on products provide specific 
types of potential benefits, such as guaranteed asset protection (GAP) products that offer to help 
pay off an auto loan if the car is totaled or stolen and the consumer owes more than the car's 
depreciated value.  The add-on products’ potential benefits apply only for specific time periods, 
such as four years after purchase or for the term of the loan, and only under certain 
circumstances.   

Auto dealers and finance companies often charge consumers all payments for any add-on 
products as a lump sum at origination of the auto loan or purchase of the vehicle.  Dealers and 
finance companies generally include the lump sum cost of the add-on product as part of the total 
vehicle financing agreement, and consumers typically make payments on these products 
throughout the loan term, even if the product expires years earlier.    

Examiners found that servicers engaged in unfair practices by failing to request refunds from 
the third-party administrators for “unearned” fees related to GAP products and failing to apply 
the applicable refunds to the accounts after repossession and cancellation of the contracts.  At 
that point, the consumers did not have the vehicle that had been subject to the GAP product, 
and the product no longer offered any possible benefit to consumers.   

Examiners found that while servicers did maintain policies to obtain applicable refunds, they 
frequently failed to apply for these refunds from third-party administrators.  When consumers’ 
vehicles were repossessed and sold and there was a deficiency balance (that is, the money 
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unpaid on the sale price of the vehicle after repossession), the servicers’ failure to apply for the 
GAP product refunds from the third-party administrators resulted in inaccurate deficiency 
balances.  The partial refunds from the third-party administrators would have paid for at least 
some of the GAP product fees that were financed, but instead, servicers included charges for the 
unused portions of the financed GAP products in the deficiency balances.   

Examiners found that servicers sent deficiency notices to consumers and reported balances to 
third-party debt buyers that included these inaccurate amounts as the deficiency balance owed 
by consumers.  Including these amounts in the deficiency balances resulted in substantial injury 
to consumers because the amounts to be collected were higher than the true amount owed, and 
the deficiency balances were likely to be collected by the third-party debt buyers when the 
products provided no possible benefit, after the vehicles were repossessed and the accounts were 
charged off.  Consumers could not reasonably avoid the injury because they had no control over 
the servicers’ refund processing actions.  And they generally could not apply for such refunds 
themselves because they were unaware that the contract provided they could do so.  The injury 
was not outweighed by any countervailing benefit to consumers or competition.   

In response to these findings, the servicers remediated impacted consumers and implemented 
additional controls to ensure the servicers process add-on product refunds after repossession. 

2.2 Consumer Reporting 
Companies in the business of regularly assembling or evaluating information about consumers 
for the purpose of providing consumer reports to third parties are “consumer reporting 
companies ” (CRCs).5  These companies, along with the entities -- such as banks, loan servicers, 
and others -- that furnish information to the CRCs for inclusion in consumer reports, play a vital 
role in availability of credit and have a significant role to play in the fair and accurate reporting 
of credit information.  They are subject to several requirements under the Fair Credit Reporting 
Act (FCRA)6 and its implementing regulation, Regulation V,7 including the requirement to 
reasonably investigate disputes and to furnish data subject to the relevant accuracy 
requirements.  In recent reviews, examiners found deficiencies in CRCs’ compliance with FCRA 

5 The term “consumer reporting company” means the same as “consumer reporting agency,” as defined in the Fair 
Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(f), including nationwide consumer reporting agencies as defined in 15 U.S.C. § 
1681a(p) and nationwide specialty consumer reporting agencies as defined in 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(x). 
6 15 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq. 
7 12 C.F.R. Part 1022. 
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dispute investigation requirements and furnisher compliance with FCRA and Regulation V 
accuracy and dispute investigation requirements. 

2.2.1 CRC duty to conduct reasonable reinvestigation of 
disputed information  

The FCRA requires that a CRC must conduct a reasonable reinvestigation of disputed 
information to determine if the disputed information is inaccurate whenever the completeness 
or accuracy of any item of information contained in a consumer’s file is disputed by the 
consumer and the consumer notifies the CRC directly, or indirectly through a reseller, of such 
dispute.8  In several reviews of CRCs, examiners found that CRCs failed to conduct reasonable 
investigations of disputes in multiple ways.  Examiners also found that rather than resolving 
disputes consistent with the investigation conducted by the furnisher, which in many instances 
would have required correcting inaccurate derogatory information and replacing it with accurate 
positive information, CRCs simply deleted thousands of disputed tradelines.  Examiners also 
found that CRCs failed to conduct reasonable dispute investigations when they failed to review 
and consider all relevant information submitted by the consumer in support of their disputes.  
After identification of these issues, CRCs were directed to cease violating the FCRA’s dispute 
investigation requirements. 

2.2.2 CRC duty to provide prompt notice of dispute to 
furnisher  

The FCRA requires that when a CRC receives notice of a dispute from a consumer or reseller, the 
CRC must provide notification of the dispute to any person who provided any item of 
information in dispute before the expiration of the five-business-day period beginning on the 
date that the CRC received the notice of dispute.9  In several reviews of CRCs, examiners found 
that CRCs failed to send notifications of dispute to furnishers within five business days of 
receiving the dispute.  After identification of these issues, CRCs were directed to cease violating 
the FCRA’s dispute notification timeliness requirements. 

8 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a)(1)(A). 
9 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a)(2). 

Page 172



2.2.3 CRC duty to provide written notice to the consumer of 
the results of the reinvestigation 

The FCRA requires that a CRC must provide written notice of the results of a dispute 
reinvestigation not later than five business days after the completion of the reinvestigation.10  In 
several reviews of CRCs, examiners found disputes where an FCRA compliant statement of 
results was not sent within the required five business days of completing the dispute 
investigation.  Moreover, examiners found that CRCs’ statements of results omitted material 
information necessary to understand the results of the investigation. Examiners also found that 
in some cases the statement of results was incorrect – stating, for example, that disputed 
information had been corrected when, in fact, the disputed information was verified as accurate 
by the furnisher and not materially changed by the CRC.  After identification of these issues, 
CRCs were directed to cease violating the FCRA’s dispute results notice requirements. 

2.2.4 Furnisher duty to conduct reasonable investigations of 
indirect disputes 

After receiving notice of a dispute of the completeness or accuracy of any information from a 
CRC, furnishers are required to conduct an investigation with respect to the disputed 
information.11  Such investigations must include a review of all relevant information provided by 
the CRC, and the furnisher must complete the investigation and report the results to the CRC 
before the expiration of the time period required for the CRC to complete its investigation and 
provide notice of the results to the consumer.12  When disputes are forwarded to furnishers by 
CRCs, the FCRA does not provide the furnisher with discretion to deem such disputes frivolous; 
for indirect disputes, only the CRC has discretion to determine that disputes are frivolous or 
irrelevant.13  Examples of failures to conduct reasonable investigations of indirect disputes from 
recent Bureau exams include: 

• Credit card furnishers failed to conduct any investigations of disputes received from 
CRCs or send results of dispute investigations to the CRCs due to furnishing system 
implementation issues.  Credit card furnishers also failed to conduct reasonable 
investigation of disputes due to erroneously deeming thousands of indirect disputes as 
frivolous.  Credit card furnishers also sent incorrect results of disputes to CRCs.  For 
example, after completing the dispute investigation, furnishers included incorrect special 
comment codes on the automated credit dispute verification forms (ACDV) used to 

10 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a)(6). 
11 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(b)(1)(A). 
12 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(b)(1)(B)-(C); 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(b)(2). 
13 15 U.S.C. § 1681i(a)(3). 
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communicate the results to the CRCs.  After identifying that incorrect results were sent 
to the CRCs, the furnishers sent updates to the CRCs reporting the correct special 
comment codes.  
 

• Deposit furnishers failed to conduct any investigations of disputes received from 
specialty CRCs or send results of dispute investigations to specialty CRCs.  The 
furnishers stated the dispute investigations were not conducted because they were not 
aware that any disputes had been received from specialty CRCs, as a result of the 
furnishers’ insufficient dispute intake procedures.  The specialty CRCs deleted the 
disputed information from the consumers’ files because the furnishers failed to timely 
investigate and respond to the disputes.  In response to these findings, the furnishers 
developed revised dispute handling policies and procedures and compliance monitoring 
procedures to ensure all disputes are tracked and resolved completely within the time 
periods required by the FCRA.  
 

• Auto furnishers failed to conduct reasonable investigations of disputes received by CRCs.  
Specifically, furnishers incorrectly calculated consumers’ payment histories while 
processing dispute investigations, resulting in the furnishers including incorrect 
payment histories in the dispute results reported to the CRCs.   
 

In response to these findings, furnishers revised their training programs to ensure that dispute 
agents conduct reasonable investigations of disputes received from CRCs.  Furnishers are also 
conducting reviews to identify and remediate all impacted accounts for which payment histories 
were reported inaccurately.   

2.2.5 Furnisher duty to report the results of direct dispute 
investigations to consumers 

The FCRA and Regulation V require furnishers to complete their investigations of direct 
disputes received from consumers and to report the results to the consumer before the 
expiration of the time period that would have been required for the CRC to complete its 
investigation had the consumer sent the dispute to the CRC rather than the furnisher.14  

In reviews of credit card furnishers, examiners found that the furnishers conducted 
investigations of direct disputes and sent the consumers response letters, but the letters failed to 
communicate the results of the investigations.  Specifically, for disputes that resulted in 
corrections to disputed information, the furnishers used template response letters that included 

14 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(8)(E)(iii); 12 C.F.R. § 1022.43(e)(3). 
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confusing language, which created ambiguity about whether changes had been made in response 
to the dispute investigations.  These letters failed to provide consumers with the results of the 
dispute investigations because they did not affirmatively inform the consumers that changes 
were made in response to their disputes.  In response to these findings, the furnishers 
implemented revised template response letters, which do not contain ambiguous language and 
clearly communicate that changes were made in response to the dispute investigations.  

2.2.6 Furnisher duty to correct and update information 
The FCRA requires that when a furnisher determines that information furnished to CRCs is not 
complete or accurate, the furnisher must “promptly” notify the CRC of that determination and 
provide the CRC with any corrections to that information, or any additional information, that is 
necessary to make the information provided by the furnisher to the CRC complete and 
accurate.15  After determining that information furnished to CRCs is not complete or accurate, 
furnishers must also stop furnishing to CRCs information that remains not complete or 
accurate.16 

In reviews of credit card furnishers, examiners found that furnishers failed to send updating or 
correcting information to CRCs after making a determination that information the furnishers 
had reported was not complete or accurate.  For example, examiners found that after 
determining that accounts that had been given new account numbers were erroneously being 
furnished twice to the CRCs, once under the old account number and once under the new 
account number, the furnishers continued to furnish the duplicate accounts to the CRCs. 
Examiners also found that credit card furnishers violated this provision by failing to promptly 
update account statuses to settled-in-full, paid-in-full, voluntarily closed, or discharged in 
bankruptcy upon recognizing that the account statuses furnished did not match the account 
statuses in the furnishers’ systems of record.   

Supervision directed the furnishers to update their systems to allow for prompt updates to, and 
to prevent the continued furnishing of information determined to be incomplete or inaccurate. 

15 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-(a)(2).  
16 Id.  
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2.2.7 Furnisher duty to establish and implement reasonable 
policies and procedures concerning the accuracy and 
integrity of furnished information  

Regulation V requires that furnishers establish and implement reasonable written policies and 
procedures regarding the accuracy and integrity of the information relating to consumers that it 
furnishes to a CRC.17  The policies and procedures must be appropriate to the nature, size, 
complexity, and scope of each furnisher’s activities.”18  Furnishers must consider and 
incorporate, as appropriate, the guidelines of Appendix E to Regulation V when developing their 
policies and procedures.19  These guidelines address key business functions, such as record 
retention, training, third-party oversight, and receipt of feedback from CRCs and others that 
contribute to a furnisher’s ability to ensure the accuracy and integrity of the data furnished to 
CRCs. 
 
In previous issues of Supervisory Highlights, we described supervisory findings of furnishers 
that violated these requirements.20  In recent supervisory reviews, we have identified further 
violations of the Regulation V requirement for reasonable written policies and procedures.  

• In reviews of credit card furnishers, examiners found furnishers’ policies and procedures 
had failed to specify how particular data fields, such as the date of first delinquency, 
should be populated when furnishing information about credit card accounts.  

• Credit card furnishers’ policies and procedures also had failed to provide for the 
retention of records for a reasonable period of time to substantiate the accuracy of 
consumer information furnished to CRCs.  For example, examiners identified multiple 
instances where furnishers failed to retain records relating to direct disputes for the time 
period required by their own policies due to automated system purges of dormant 
accounts occurring on a shorter cycle than the applicable retention period.  

• Examiners also found that had failed to perform account level analyses to determine 
which accounts should be reported in bankruptcy status after a consumer informs the 
furnisher of a bankruptcy filing.  The furnishers’ processes resulted in the reporting of 

17 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(a). 
18 Id.  
19 12 C.F.R. § 1022.42(b). 
20 CFPB, Supervisory Highlights: Consumer Reporting Special Edition, at 4-7 (Dec. 2019); CFPB, Supervisory 

Highlights, Winter 2017, at 13-17 (March 2017). These editions are available at: Supervisory Highlights | Consumer 
Financial Protection Bureau (consumerfinance.gov). 

 

Page 176

https://www.consumerfinance.gov/compliance/supervisory-highlights/
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/compliance/supervisory-highlights/


bankruptcy status codes for accounts that had already been paid and/or closed prior to 
the bankruptcy filing.   

• In reviews of auto loan furnishers, examiners found that furnishers had failed to 
incorporate content relating to the specific activities in which the furnishers engaged. 
For example, furnishers lacked procedures for furnishing accurate information in 
connection with leased automobiles returned to dealerships.  

• In reviews of deposit furnishers, examiners found that furnishers had no written policies 
or procedures for furnishing deposit account information to specialty CRCs.  Examiners 
also found that furnishers, in developing their policies and procedures, did not consider 
and incorporate the guidelines in Appendix E to Regulation V with respect to conducting 
reasonable investigations of consumer disputes relating to furnished deposit account 
information.  For example, examiners identified furnishers that claimed to handle 
disputes through their existing complaints procedures despite those procedures failing to 
address the specific requirements under the FCRA for investigating and resolving 
consumer disputes.  

After identification of these issues, furnishers are taking corrective actions including developing 
written policies and procedures regarding the accuracy and integrity of information furnished to 
CRCs and the proper handling of consumer disputes.  

2.3 Credit Card Account Management 
The Bureau assessed the credit card account management operations of supervised entities for 
compliance with applicable Federal consumer financial laws.  Examinations of these entities 
identified violations of Regulation Z and deceptive acts or practices prohibited by the CFPA.  

2.3.1 Billing error resolution violations 
Regulation Z contains billing error resolution provisions that a creditor must comply with 
following receipt of a billing error notice from a consumer.  Examiners found violations of the 
following provisions of Regulation Z:  

• 12 C.F.R. § 1026.13(c)(1) by failing to mail or deliver written acknowledgments to 
consumers within 30 days of receiving a billing error notice; 

 
• 12 C.F.R. § 1026.13(c)(2) by failing to resolve disputes within two complete billing cycles 

after receiving a billing error notice, due to human and system intake errors;  
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• 12 C.F.R. § 1026.13(e)(1) by failing to reimburse consumers after billing errors were 

determined to have occurred as consumers asserted;  
 

 

 

 

• 12 C.F.R. § 1026.13(e)(2) by failing to mail or deliver correction notices to consumers 
resolving billing errors in their favor;  

• 12 C.F.R. § 1026.13(f) by failing to conduct reasonable investigations after receiving 
billing error notices due to human errors and system weaknesses;  

• 12 C.F.R. § 1026.13(f)(1) by providing inaccurate explanations to consumers as to why 
the creditor denied the consumers’ billing error claims in whole or part or, in some 
instances, providing no explanation at all; and  

• 12 C.F.R. § 1026.13(f)(2) by failing to provide consumers with the evidence the creditor 
relied upon to determine no billing error occurred, after the consumers requested the 
evidence to understand the creditor’s determination.   

In response to these findings, the relevant entities are implementing plans to improve 
compliance with Regulation Z’s billing error resolution requirements, which include enhanced 
training, system improvements, enhanced monitoring, additional controls for consumer 
complaints, and revisions to applicable policies and procedures.  

2.3.2 Rate re-evaluation violations  
Under Regulation Z, as revised to implement the Card Accountability Responsibility and 
Disclosure (CARD) Act, after increasing a consumer’s Annual Percentage Rate (APR or rate), 
credit card issuers have to periodically assess whether it is appropriate to reduce the account’s 
APR(s).21  Issuers must first re-evaluate each such account no later than six months after the 
rate increase and at least every six months thereafter.22  In re-evaluating each account, the 
issuer must review (a) the factors on which the rate increase was originally based or (b) the 
factors the issuer currently considers when determining the APR applicable to similar, new 
consumer credit card accounts.23 

Examiners found violations of these provisions of Regulation Z in connection with creditors’ 
acquisitions of pre-existing credit card accounts from other creditors.  In one set of violations, 

21 12 C.F.R. § 1026.59(a). 
22 12 C.F.R. § 1026.59(c). 
23 12 C.F.R. § 1026.59(d)(1). 
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the creditors conducted rate re-evaluations on the acquired accounts but failed to reduce APRs 
to the appropriate level.  Specifically, the creditors were unable to identify the lowest rate 
applicable to the acquired accounts because they failed to gather this data from the sellers 
during the acquisition.  This rate data was necessary to the creditors’ rate reevaluation analysis 
and, as a result, the creditors did not properly re-evaluate accounts as required by Regulation Z, 
causing monetary harm to consumers who did not receive APR rate reductions.  In response to 
these findings, the creditors will provide remediation to impacted consumers and will enhance 
monitoring to ensure accurate rate information.  

In a separate set of violations, the creditors failed to conduct re-evaluations of rate increases 
once every six months after certain APR increases on acquired accounts.  For those accounts, the 
creditors failed to accurately record a review date in their system of record for rate re-evaluation 
and, as a result, their rate re-evaluation system did not identify these accounts for inclusion in 
the rate re-evaluation process.  This resulted in monetary harm to consumers who were not 
included in the creditors’ rate re-evaluation process and did not receive potential rate 
reductions.  As a result, the creditors will remediate all affected consumers, develop new rate re-
evaluation controls, and enhance exception reporting and monitoring activities. 

Finally, examiners found violations of these provisions of Regulation Z in connection with a 
failure to consider appropriate factors when performing rate re-evaluations.  Specifically, when 
evaluating rate reductions, based on the factors considered when determining the APRs 
applicable to similar new accounts, the creditors considered certain minimum rates that 
formerly applied to their credit card accounts; however, at the time of their rate re-evaluation 
analyses, because these minimum rates no longer applied to the relevant credit card accounts, 
using them in the creditors’ rate re-evaluation analyses violated Regulation Z.  In response to 
these findings, the creditors will remove the inappropriate factors when determining the 
applicable APR following the re-evaluation of a rate increase and revise their relevant policies 
and procedures.  

2.3.3 Deceptive advertising of interest-free financing and 
failure to process refunds in accordance with account 
disclosures 

Sections 1031 and 1036 of the CFPA prohibit deceptive acts or practices.24  Examiners found that 
certain entities engaged in deceptive acts or practices by advertising the interest-free financing 
feature of their credit card without adequately disclosing the preconditions for obtaining the 
financing.  To receive the interest-free financing, consumers needed to satisfy two 

24 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536(a)(1)(B). 
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preconditions, including purchasing the products at a business partner’s store or website and 
agreeing, at checkout, to pay for the product in monthly installments.  Based on the net 
impression of the advertisements, consumers were misled about the preconditions necessary to 
receive the interest-free financing promotion, which were material to the consumers’ decision to 
purchase the products with the credit card.  As a result of these findings, the entities will 
undertake remedial and corrective actions.  

Examiners also found that certain entities engaged in deceptive acts or practices by failing to 
process refunds in accordance with their credit card account holder agreements.  The entities 
issued certain credit card accounts to customers which had both a revolving balance that 
accrued interest and a monthly installment balance that was interest-free for its duration.  The 
account holder agreements provided that refunds and credits would be applied to the revolving 
balance on the customer’s account, and did not contain any provision stating that, if the 
purchase refunds on the revolving balance resulted in a negative revolving balance, the refund 
would instead be applied to the monthly installment balance.  Nonetheless, when the refund 
would result in a negative revolving balance, the entities (1) applied revolving purchase refunds 
to the monthly installment balance, or (2) applied such refunds to the revolving balance 
temporarily, but then applied the negative revolving balance to the monthly installment balance 
when the monthly installment balance payment became due.  These practices caused the 
interest-free installment balances to be paid prematurely, resulting in consumers losing the 
interest-free benefit they expected to receive and having fewer funds available to pay future 
interest-accruing revolving balances.   

This practice was deceptive because the credit card account holder agreements misled 
consumers with regard to how refunds and credits would be applied to their account balances.  
In response to these findings, the entities will undertake remedial and corrective actions.  

2.4 Debt Collection 
The Bureau has supervisory authority to examine certain institutions that engage in consumer 
debt collection activities, including very large depository institutions,25 nonbanks that are larger 
participants in the consumer debt collection market,26 and nonbanks that are service providers 
to certain covered persons.27  Recent examinations of larger participant debt collectors 
identified risks of violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA) and the CFPA. 

25  12 U.S.C. § 5515(a)-(b).  
26 12 U.S.C. § 5514(a)(1)(B), (b) and 12 C.F.R. § 1090.105. 
27 12 U.S.C. §§ 5514(e), 5515(d), 5516(e).  
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2.4.1 Using a false or misleading representation in 
connection with the collection of a debt caused by 
identify theft  

FDCPA Section 807(2)(A)28 states that a debt collector may not falsely represent the character, 
amount, or legal status of any debt in connection with the collection of any debt.  Examiners 
found instances in which debt collectors violated this section by misrepresenting or implying to 
consumers that they were responsible for paying charges on their accounts that were incurred as 
the result of fraudulent activity.  

Examiners found instances in which consumers had informed collectors that the establishment 
of the account was the result of identity theft.  For example, consumers informed collectors that 
they had police reports related to the fraud.  Notwithstanding the consumers’ proffer of evidence 
supporting the identify theft, the debt collectors continued to represent that the consumers 
owed the debt by offering to allow the consumers to pay a reduced amount to settle the alleged 
debt, and then continuing to attempt to collect the debt.  Examiners determined that, by 
continuing attempts to collect the debt and offering settlement, even after being informed of the 
fraud, the debt collectors misrepresented that the consumers were legally obligated to pay a debt 
created through fraud.  In these instances, the debt collectors’ agents deviated from the 
collectors’ established policies and procedures, and the debt collectors issued refunds of 
consumer payments made after the misrepresentations.  

2.4.2 Engaging in an unfair practice in connection with the 
collection of a debt by failing to timely refund 
overpayments or credit balances 

The CFPA prohibits covered entities from engaging in unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or 
practices in their interactions with consumers.29  Examiners found multiple instances in which 
debt collectors may have engaged in an unfair act or practice in connection with the collection of 
a debt by failing to timely refund overpayments and credit balances to consumers.  These 
practices caused or were likely to cause substantial injury to affected borrowers as consumers 
lost the ability to use funds for an extended period of time.  Consumers could not reasonably 
avoid the injury as they were unlikely to know about the credit balances, and even if they became 
aware, the consumers had no way to expedite the refund process.  The injury was not 
outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or competition.  In response to these 
findings, the entities will report to the CFPB on remedial measures, including issuing full 

28 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A). 
29 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531 and 5536.  
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refunds to consumers, revising their policies and procedures, and strengthening their 
monitoring to ensure credit balances are timely refunded.  

2.5 Deposits 
The CFPB continues its examinations of financial institutions for compliance with Regulation 
E,30 which implements the Electronic Fund Transfer Act (EFTA).31  The CFPB also examines for 
compliance with other relevant statutes and regulations, including Regulation DD,32 which 
implements the Truth in Savings Act,33 and the CFPA’s prohibitions regarding UDAAPs.34   

2.5.1 Failure to remove a duplicative hold on an account 
Examiners found that institutions engaged in unfair acts or practices by erroneously placing 
multiple holds on certain mobile check deposits that were deemed suspicious rather than 
placing the single holds that were intended.  Through transaction testing, examiners identified 
accounts where the institutions had charged a consumer overdraft fees because the institutions 
failed to lift the initial automatic holds on the amounts of mobile check deposits after an 
additional suspicious deposit hold was placed on the account.  This practice caused, or was likely 
to cause, substantial injury due to consumers incurring fees and losing access to funds that were 
unrelated to the suspicious mobile check deposit.  Consumers could not reasonably avoid the 
injury, given that they could not have prevented the institutions from failing to comply with 
their own internal procedures.  And the injury was not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 
consumers or to competition.   

The institutions’ failures to implement policies and procedures that address these technical 
limitations led to the unfair practices.  The institutions revised their policies and procedures 
governing holds and developed controls to monitor for and detect instances of duplicate holds.  
The institutions refunded the fees caused by these duplicate holds.   

2.5.2 Failure to honor a timely stop payment request 
Institutions violated the stop payment requirements of 12 C.F.R. § 1005.10(c) by failing to honor 
stop payment requests for preauthorized transfers tied to debit cards.  Examiners found that the 

30 12 C.F.R. § 1005 et seq. 
31 15 U.S.C. § 1693 et seq. 
32 12 C.F.R. § 1030 et seq. 
33 12 U.S.C. § 4301 et seq. 
34 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536. 
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institutions’ systems did not enable stopping a payment tied to a debit card.  The institutions 
clarified the policies for this area and revised trainings to address this issue in the future.  

2.5.3 Failure to investigate and determine whether an error 
occurred 

Examiners continued to find issues with financial institutions failing to follow Regulation E 
error resolution procedures.  Institutions violated Regulation E by failing to complete error 
investigations following consumers’ notices of error because the consumers did not submit an 
affidavit.35  Where consumers did not submit an affidavit, the institutions denied the error 
claims without investigating the merits of the error claims.  A financial institution cannot 
require a consumer to file a police report or other documentation as a condition of initiating or 
completing an error investigation.  The institutions updated policies and procedures and 
implemented remediation programs for affected consumers. 

The Bureau has discussed this issue in FAQs on Electronic Funds Transfers and in Supervisory 
Highlights, Issue 24, Summer 2021.36 

2.5.4 Failure to provide consumers with notice of revocation 
of provisional credit 

Institutions violated 12 C.F.R. § 1005.11(d)(2) by failing to provide notices of revocation of 
provisional credit to consumers in connection with error investigations regarding check deposits 
at ATMs. 

Consumers filed error claims stating that checks deposited at ATMs in specific amounts were 
not properly credited to their accounts.  The institutions provided the consumers with 
provisional credits in the amounts claimed by the consumers; however, when the institutions 
retrieved the checks, they determined the check amounts were for lesser amounts than the 
consumers alleged in the error claims.  The institutions debited the differences and sent the 
consumers written letters indicating the investigations were complete and the provisional 
credits of the lesser amounts were final, not addressing the fact that the institutions debited the 

35 12 C.F.R. § 1005.11(c)(1). 
36 The Electronic Fund Transfers FAQ (last updated Dec. 13, 2021) are available at:  
https://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/cfbp_electronic-fund-transfers-faqs.pdf; 
Supervisory Highlights, Issue 24, Summer 2021 (June 29, 2021), is available at: 
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/documents/9840/cfpb_supervisory-highlights_issue-24_2021-06.pdf. 
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difference between the amounts of the original provisional credits and the face values of the 
checks.37  

The institutions violated Regulation E by failing to state that they would be debiting the excess 
amounts originally provisionally credited from the consumers’ accounts, the dates the 
institutions would be debiting the excess provisional credits, or that the institutions would (as 
required by the regulation) honor certain transactions for five days after the notification.   

In response to these findings, the institutions provided additional Regulation E compliance 
training to applicable staff, transitioned certain monitoring and oversight functions to an 
independent quality assurance/quality control team, and have identified opportunities to 
enhance error resolution letter templates. 

2.6 Mortgage Origination 
Supervision assessed the mortgage origination operations of several supervised entities for 
compliance with applicable Federal consumer financial laws.  Examinations of these entities 
identified violations of Regulation Z. 

2.6.1 Compensating loan originators differently based on 
product type  

Regulation Z generally prohibits compensating mortgage loan originators in an amount that is 
based on the terms of a transaction.38  In the preamble to the Bureau’s 2013 Loan Originator 
Final Rule, the Bureau responded to questions from commenters about whether it was 
permissible to compensate differently based on product types, such as credit extended pursuant 
to government programs for low-and moderate-income borrowers.39  As explained by the 
Bureau there, it is not permissible to differentiate compensation based on credit product type, 
since products are simply a bundle of particular terms.40 

37 Pursuant to the Official Staff Interpretations to Regulation E, Comment 1005.3(b)(1)-1, the term “electronic funds 
transfer” includes “[a] deposit made at an ATM . . . (including a deposit in cash or by check).” 

38 12 C.F.R. § 1026.36(d)(1)(i). 
39 2013 Loan Originator Compensation Rule, 78 Fed. Reg. 11279, 11326.  The Bureau noted that the meaning of loan 

“product” is “not firmly established and varies with the person using the term, but it generally refers to various 
combinations of features such as the type of interest rate and the form of amortization.” Id. at 11284. 

40 Id. at 11326-27, note 82. The Bureau further noted in the preamble that permitting different compensation based 
on different product types would create “precisely the type of risk of steering” that the statutory provisions 
implemented through the 2013 Loan Originator Final Rule sought to avoid. Id at 11328. 
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Examiners found that certain lenders’ loan originator compensation agreements provided for 
higher loan originator compensation where Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie 
Mae) conforming fixed rate loans surpassed a designated threshold percentage of the total loans 
closed by the loan originator.  This compensation was higher than the compensation paid when 
such loans did not surpass the designated threshold percentage.  Paying higher commissions 
under these circumstances constitutes paying compensation based on credit product type, 
which, in turn, violates the Loan Originator Rule as compensation based on the term of a 
transaction, since products are simply a bundle of particular terms.  As a result of these findings, 
the lenders have agreed to change their compensation plans to bring them into compliance with 
the Loan Originator Rule.  

The Bureau previously discussed this issue in Supervisory Highlights, Issue 24, Summer 2021.41 

2.6.2 Insufficient documentation for changed circumstance 
Regulation Z requires a creditor to provide the consumer with good faith estimates on the Loan 
Estimate for certain transactions.  The closing cost estimates are generally considered to be in 
good faith if the amount paid by or imposed on the consumer does not exceed the amount 
originally disclosed.42  A creditor is permitted to use a revised estimate of a charge instead of the 
estimate of the charge originally disclosed to reset tolerances when there is a valid changed 
circumstance permitted by Regulation Z that resulted in the increased costs.43  One such valid 
changed circumstance is where the consumer requests revisions to the credit terms.44  For a 
creditor to successfully reset tolerances as permitted by Regulation Z, it must, among other 
things, maintain documentation explaining the reason for revision.45 
 
Examiners found that certain lenders failed to retain sufficient documentation to establish the 
changed circumstance’s validity.  Specifically, the lenders disclosed an appraisal fee on initial 
Loan Estimates and subsequently disclosed appraisal rush fees, in a higher amount, on revised 
Loan Estimates.  The lenders claimed the rush appraisals, which led to the appraisal rush fees, 
were requested by consumers.  However, in each instance, the lender failed to maintain 
sufficient documentation evidencing the consumer’s request of the rush appraisals; in fact, the 
documentation maintained reflected that either the appraisal management company notified 
the lenders that a rush appraisal would be needed or the lenders’ loan officers requested the 

41 Supervisory Highlights, Issue 24, Summer 2021  is available at: cfpb_report_template_logo_092820.docx 
(consumerfinance.gov).   

42 12 C.F.R. § 1026.19(e)(3)(i). 
43 12 C.F.R. § 1026.19(e)(3)(iv). 
44 12 C.F.R. § 1026.19(e)(3)(iv)(C). 
45 12 C.F.R. pt. 1026, Supp. I, comment 19(e)(3)(iv)-3. 
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rush appraisal.  In certain instances, the lenders’ documentation included only a checked box 
indicating the consumer requested the rush appraisal, but there was no other evidence retained 
reflecting this occurred.  In response to these findings, the lenders agreed to remediate affected 
consumers, revise their policies and procedures to ensure relevant documentation is obtained 
and maintained, and strengthen relevant quality control audit functions.  

2.6.3 Disclosures failed to reflect the terms of legal 
obligation 

Regulation Z provides that closed-end disclosures, including the mortgage Closing Disclosure, 
must reflect the terms of the legal obligation between the parties.46  

Examiners found violations of this provision relating to items on Closing Disclosures that did 
not reflect the legal obligation between the parties.  Specifically, examiners identified instances 
where lenders’ Closing Disclosures failed to reflect the fully-indexed-rate as required by the 
promissory note because the lenders’ software miscalculated the disclosed rates.  The software 
used a rounding method that is different from the method used in the corresponding promissory 
notes.  The software automatically rounded up to the nearest one-eighth percent, despite the 
promissory note’s instruction to round to the nearest one-eighth percent – up or down.  This 
practice resulted in Closing Disclosures that do not reflect the terms of the legal obligation 
between the parties, and likely affected files and loans transferred to other loan servicers.  As a 
result of these findings, the relevant lenders committed to update the rounding methodology 
and enhance monitoring and testing procedures to ensure that disclosures to consumers reflect 
the terms of the legal obligation between the parties.  

2.7 Prepaid Accounts 
The Bureau’s Supervision program covers both institutions that issue prepaid accounts and 
prepaid account service providers.  Recent examinations identified various violations of EFTA 
and Regulation E. 

2.7.1 Prepaid account agreement submissions 
Examiners found violations related to the requirement that financial institutions submit prepaid 
account agreements to the Bureau as set forth in Regulation E.  Section 1005.19(b)(1) requires 
that prepaid account issuers make submissions of prepaid account agreements on a rolling basis 

46 12 C.F.R. § 1026.17(c)(1).  
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no later than 30 days after an issuer “offers, amends, or ceases to offer any prepaid account 
agreement.”47 

Examiners determined that institutions failed to submit prepaid account agreements to the 
Bureau within 30 days of the effective date after they amend certain prepaid account 
agreements.  

In addition, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.19(b)(1)(i) requires that each submission by a financial institution 
must contain, among other things, “the name of the program manager, if any, and the list of 
names of other relevant parties, if applicable (such as the employer for a payroll card program or 
the agency for a government benefit program.)”  Examiners determined that institutions failed 
to submit, as part of their prepaid account agreement submissions, the names of the program 
managers, if any, and the lists of names of other relevant parties. 

In response to these findings, institutions amended their compliance management systems, 
submitted or resubmitted the amended prepaid account agreements to the Bureau with the 
additional required information, as applicable, and instituted increased monitoring of prepaid 
account agreements.   

2.7.2 Stop Payment Requests 
Examiners found violations related to the receipt of valid stop payment requests from prepaid 
account users.  Regulation E states that a consumer may stop payment of a preauthorized 
electronic fund transfer from the consumer's account by notifying the financial institution orally 
or in writing at least three business days before the scheduled date of the transfer.48 

Examiners determined that institutions failed to honor oral stop payment requests with respect 
to payments originating through certain bill pay systems, including both those initiated with the 
merchant, as well as within the bill pay system housed at the prepaid account program manager. 

In response to these findings, institutions corrected their processes to allow for stop payment 
requests received orally or in writing, regardless of where the payment was originated, and 
remediated impacted consumers.  

47 12 C.F.R. § 1005.19(b)(1). 
48 12 C.F.R. § 1005.10(c)(1). 
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2.7.3 Error resolution documentation notice 
Examiners found violations related to the notice provided to consumers after an institution 
determined no error or a different error than alleged by the consumer had occurred upon the 
completion of a Regulation E error investigation.  Section 1005.11(d)(1) requires a financial 
institution to report the results of its investigation, including a written explanation of the 
institution's findings and the consumer's right to request the documents that the institution 
relied on in making its determination.  Upon request, the institution must promptly provide 
copies of these documents.  

Examiners determined that institutions violated 12 C.F.R. § 1005.11(d)(1) by failing to include a 
statement noting the consumer’s right to request the documents that the institution relied on in 
making its determination after determining no error or a different error occurred as part of the 
report of the results.  Examiners also found that institutions failed to fulfill consumers’ 
subsequent requests to provide the documentation relied upon to make the determinations that 
no error occurred.  

In response to these findings, institutions updated their report of results letter templates to 
explicitly state the consumers’ right to request documents that the institutions relied on in 
making their error investigation determinations, and directed their service providers to institute 
compliance management system enhancements to ensure requests for documents were 
honored. 

2.8 Remittances 
The Bureau continues to examine institutions under its supervisory authority for compliance 
with Regulation E, Subpart B (Remittance Rule).49  The Bureau also reviews for UDAAPs in 
connection with remittance transfers.  Examiners identified violations of EFTA, Regulation E, 
and a deceptive act or practice. 

2.8.1 Deceptive claims on transfer speeds for remittance 
transfers 

Examiners found remittance transfer providers engaged in deceptive acts or practices by making 
false and misleading representations of “instant” and “30 second” transfers, even though the 
transfers may not be completed in 30 seconds or they may be otherwise delayed.  Certain 

49 See 78 Fed. Reg. 30662 (May 22, 2013), as amended (codified at 12 C.F.R. §§ 1005.30 through 1005.36). 
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transfers could be delayed up to an additional 48 hours past the disclosed date of availability. 
These express claims, which failed to disclose or disclose adequately any exceptions, were likely 
to mislead consumers acting reasonably.  And information about transfer speed would have 
been material to a consumer’s decision as to which remittance transfer provider to use.  In 
response to these findings, institutions implemented additional UDAAP training for their staff 
and ensured that their compliance departments review advertisements.   

2.8.2 Remittance transfer account agreement waiver 
violations 

Section 914 of EFTA, 15 U.S.C. § 1693l, states that “[n]o writing or other agreement between a 
consumer and any other person may contain any provision which constitutes a waiver of any 
right conferred or cause of action created by this subchapter.”50 

Examiners found multiple instances where remittance transfer service agreements with 
consumers violated EFTA’s prohibition on waivers of rights conferred or causes of action created 
by EFTA.  Institutions violated EFTA by: 

•  Including a hold harmless and indemnification requirement that purports to limit claims 
against the institution, thereby waiving rights conferred by EFTA Section 916.51   

• Attempting to limit the consumer’s right to recover costs and attorney’s fees in a limited 
liability clause.52   

• Stating that the entity makes “no representations or warranties regarding the time required 
to complete processing because the Service is dependent on many factors beyond our 
control.”53  

 
In response to these findings, the entities undertook a number of corrective actions including 
updating their agreements to remove the offending language. 

50 15 U.S.C. § 1693l. 
51 15 U.S.C. § 1693m. 
52 EFTA Section 916, 15 U.S.C. § 1693m(a) allows the consumer to seek redress comprised of actual damages, up to 

$1,000 in statutory damages, and in the case of a successful action the costs of the action together with reasonable  
attorney’s fees as determined by the court. 

53 Under 12 C.F.R. § 1005.33(a)(1)(iv)(A) failure to make funds available to the designated recipient by the date of     
availability is generally an error unless a specific exception applies.  The exceptions are listed in 
§ 1005.33(a)(1)(iv)(A)-(D). 
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2.8.3 Disclosure and timing issues on receipts for 
remittance transfers 

Examiners found multiple issues with remittance providers failing to comply with disclosure 
and timing requirements set forth in the Remittance Rule.  

Section 1005.31(b)(2)(ii) requires remittance transfer providers to disclose on receipts the date 
in the foreign country in which funds will be available to the designated recipient.54  Institutions 
violated this section by failing to disclose on the remittance transfer receipts the date the funds 
are available to the designated recipient.  The institutions disclosed when the funds were 
delivered to the designated recipient’s bank, but not the date on which the funds would be 
available to the recipient.  

Section 1005.31(e)(2) requires the remittance transfer provider to provide the receipt required 
under § 1005.31(b)(2) no later than one business day after the date on which payment is made 
for remittance transfers made via mobile applications.55  Institutions violated this section in 
instances where they failed to issue receipts until after the funds were successfully delivered to 
the intended recipients, outside the timeline required by § 1005.31(b)(2).   

In response to these findings, institutions updated their policies to meet the timing 
requirements of the Remittance Rule. 

2.8.4 Failure to develop and maintain written policies and 
procedures designed to ensure compliance with the 
remittance transfer rule, including the rule’s record-
keeping requirements 

Examiners found that institutions failed to develop and maintain written policies and 
procedures designed to ensure compliance with the error resolution requirements of the 
Remittance Transfer Rule as found in 12 C.F.R. § 1005.33(g).  The absence of adequate written 
policies and procedures resulted in various violations of the substantive provisions of the error 
resolution requirements, including the erroneous exclusion of certain types of claims from the 
definition of an error under the Remittance Transfer Rule; improper delays in investigations, 
refunds and notices, and notices missing required information.   

Several institutions also failed to implement written policies and procedures regarding the 
retention of documentation related to error investigations under the Remittance Transfer Rule.  

54 12 C.F.R. § 1005.31(b)(2)(ii). 
55 12 C.F.R. § 1005.31(e)(2). 
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In response to these findings, Supervision directed institutions to revise error resolution policies 
and procedures and provide additional training to relevant personnel.  

2.8.5 Disclosure, timing and refund issues relating to error 
investigations 

Institutions failed to provide notice of the results of error investigations, including the notice of 
available remedies, as is required.56  The institutions had erroneously coded the error claims as 
paid and the cases resolved, but failed to contact the senders to report on the results of their 
investigations.   

Examiners also found that institutions failed to provide refunds in the amounts needed to 
resolve the errors within one business day, or as soon as reasonably practicable, after receiving 
the sender’s instructions regarding the appropriate remedy, as is required.57   

Examiners also determined that institutions failed to refund fees imposed for remittance 
transfers when the funds were not delivered to the designated recipients by the disclosed dates 
of availability, consistent with 12 C.F.R. § 1005.33(c)(2)(ii)(B), as a result of the institutions’ 
inabilities to reach the senders by phone.  

Examiners found that institutions issued error claim denial letters that did not disclose to the 
sender that the sender has the right to request documentation used in the investigation.58 

In response to these findings, institutions changed their policies and procedures.  

2.9 Student Loan Servicing  
The Bureau continues to examine student loan servicing activity, including at private student 
loan servicers, primarily to assess whether entities have engaged in any UDAAPs.  Examiners 
identified three unfair acts or practices related to private student loan servicing.  

56 12 C.F.R. § 1005.33(c)(1). 
57 12 C.F.R. § 1005.33(c)(2)(ii)(A)(1). 
58 12 C.F.R. § 1005.33(d)(1). 
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2.9.1 Failing to make incentive payments 
Examiners found that servicers engaged in unfair acts or practices by failing to make incentive 
payments that they offered in advertisements and agreed to make in the relevant contracts with 
consumers.  

Examiners found that servicers were not making incentive payments described in 
advertisements or loan contracts in a variety of circumstances.  Specifically, servicers failed to 
provide early repayment incentive payments, referral bonuses, and welcome bonuses due to 
system errors.  Furthermore, in some instances servicers did not make early repayment 
incentive payments based on policies that made incentive payments contingent upon 
maintaining a deposit account with a specific financial institution, although they did not disclose 
this requirement in the loan contracts.  

The servicers’ conduct caused or was likely to cause substantial injury because consumers 
complied with the promotional program or contract terms and did not receive payments to 
which they were entitled.  Because consumers impacted by the system errors had complied with 
all required terms and the servicer was in control of the program administration, consumers 
could not reasonably avoid the injury.  Similarly, consumers impacted by the requirement to 
maintain a deposit account could not reasonably avoid injury because they were not adequately 
informed that the rebate was contingent upon maintaining a deposit account with that financial 
institution.  And the substantial injury to consumers was not outweighed by countervailing 
benefits to consumers or competition.  In response to these findings, servicers remediated 
affected consumers and implemented monitoring systems consisting of new weekly reports to 
capture all accounts with refunds due so that the servicers could confirm that they had made 
appropriate refunds.  

2.9.2 Failing to issue timely refunds of specified payments 
after loan modifications  

Examiners found that servicers engaged in unfair acts or practices by failing to issue timely 
refund payments in accordance with the payment schedules in loan modifications.  In response 
to the COVID-19 pandemic, some servicers offered student loan modifications.  These 
modifications reduced the payments that a consumer owed for a set period of time and provided 
a specific repayment schedule.  In some instances, the servicers entered into modification 
agreements that included effective dates that predated the date they were transmitted to 
consumers.  Some consumers made payments that were not due under the repayment schedule 
provided for in the modification agreement and were therefore entitled to refunds of those 
payments.  Examiners found that servicers failed to issue timely refunds to consumers.  
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This practice caused or was likely to cause substantial injury to consumers because they lost the 
use of money that should have been refunded.  The injury was not reasonably avoidable because 
consumers reasonably relied on the specific terms described in the modification agreement and 
the servicers were in charge of the refund process.  And the injury was not outweighed by 
countervailing benefits to consumers or competition.  In response to these findings, the 
servicers conducted outreach to determine if consumers wanted a refund.  
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3.  Supervisory Program 
Developments 

3.1.1 CFPB invokes dormant authority to examine nonbank 
companies posing risks to consumers  

On April 25, 2022, the CFPB announced that it is invoking a largely unused legal provision to 
examine nonbank financial companies that pose risks to consumers.   

Before the CFPA was enacted, only banks and credit unions were subject to federal supervision.  
But after the 2008 financial crisis in which nonbank companies played a pivotal role, Congress 
tasked the CFPB with supervising certain nonbanks, in addition to large depository institutions 
with more than $10 billion in assets, and their service providers.  Nonbanks do not have a bank, 
thrift, or credit union charter; many today operate nationally and brand themselves as 
“fintechs.” 

Congress authorized several categories of entities subject to CFPB’s nonbank supervision 
program.  First and foremost, all nonbank entities in the mortgage, private student loan, and 
payday loan industries, regardless of size.  Another category of supervised entities includes what 
the law calls “larger participants” in other nonbank markets for consumer financial products 
and services.  The CFPB conducted rulemakings to define thresholds for entities subject to 
supervision in the markets of consumer reporting, debt collection, student loan servicing, 
international remittances, and auto loan servicing. 

The third category of entities subject to CFPB nonbank supervision are nonbanks whose 
activities the CFPB has reasonable cause to determine pose risks to consumers.  This authority is 
not specific to any particular consumer financial product or service.  While the CFPB did 
implement the provision through a procedural rule in 2013,59  the agency has now begun to 
invoke this authority.  This will allow the CFPB to be agile and supervise entities that may be 
fast-growing or are in markets outside the existing nonbank supervision program.   

 

59 The 2013  procedural rule is available at: https://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201206_cfpb_final-rule_certain-
nonbank-covered-persons-risk-determination.pdf 
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The CFPB also issued a procedural rule to increase the transparency of the risk-determination 
process.60  The company involved will have an opportunity to provide input to the CFPB on what 
information is released to the public.  

3.1.2 CFPB targets unfair discrimination in consumer 
finance 

On March 16, 2022, the CFPB published an updated exam manual for evaluating UDAAPs. 
These updates cover discriminatory practices that may also be “unfair” under the CFPA.  The 
manual guides examiners in evaluating whether certain discriminatory practices meet the 
criteria for “unfairness” by causing substantial harm to consumers that they cannot reasonably 
avoid, where that harm is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or 
competition.61  Consumers can be harmed by discrimination regardless of whether it is 
intentional.  Discrimination can be unfair in cases where the conduct may also be covered by 
Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA), as well as in instances where ECOA does not apply.  For 
example, denying access to a checking account because the individual is of a particular race 
could be an unfair practice even if ECOA may not cover the transaction. 

3.1.3 CFPB moves to thwart illegal auto repossessions 
On February 28, 2022, the Bureau released a bulletin describing instances, in examinations and 
enforcement actions, where servicers violated the CFPA’s prohibition against unfair, abusive, or 
deceptive acts and practices.62  In particular, the Bureau intends to hold loan holders and 
servicers accountable for UDAAPs related to repossession of consumers’ vehicles.  

3.1.4 CFPB steps up scrutiny of student loan servicers that 
deceive borrowers about Public Service Loan 
Forgiveness  

On February 18, 2022, the Bureau released a bulletin detailing student loan servicers’ obligation 
to halt unlawful conduct regarding borrowers’ eligibility and benefits under the limited waiver 
for the U.S. Department of Education’s Public Service Loan Forgiveness (PSLF) Waiver.63  The 

60 The procedural rule is available at: Supervisory Authority Over Certain Nonbank Covered Persons Based on Risk 
Determination; Public Release of Decisions and Orders (consumerfinance.gov)    

61 The updated exam manual is available at: https://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/cfpb_unfair-deceptive-
abusive-acts-practices-udaaps_procedures.pdf 

62 The bulletin is available at: https://www.consumerfinance.gov/compliance/supervisory-guidance/cfpb-bulletin-
2022-04-mitigating-harm-from-repossession-of-automobiles/  

 63 The bulletin is available at: https://www.consumerfinance.gov/compliance/supervisory-guidance/cfpb-bulletin-
2022-03-servicer-responsibilities-in-public-service-loan-forgiveness-communications/ 
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bulletin recommends actions servicers should consider taking to ensure they do not 
misrepresent borrower eligibility or make deceptive statements to borrowers about the PSLF 
program and the waiver. 

3.1.5 CFPB issues bulletin to prevent unlawful medical debt 
collection and credit reporting 

On January 13, 2022, the Bureau released a bulletin reminding debt collectors and CRCs of their 
legal obligations in light of the No Surprises Act, which protects consumers from certain 
unexpected medical bills.64  Companies that try to collect on medical bills that are prohibited by 
the No Surprises Act, or who furnish information to CRCs about such invalid debts, may face 
significant legal liability under the FDCPA and FCRA.  The bulletin advises CRCs that the 
accuracy and dispute obligations imposed by the FCRA apply with respect to debts stemming 
from charges that exceed the amount permitted by the No Surprises Act. 

64 The bulletin is available at: https://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-issues-bulletin-to-
prevent-unlawful-medical-debt-collection-and-credit-reporting/ 
 

Page 196

https://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-issues-bulletin-to-prevent-unlawful-medical-debt-collection-and-credit-reporting/
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-issues-bulletin-to-prevent-unlawful-medical-debt-collection-and-credit-reporting/


4.  Remedial Actions 

4.1 Public enforcement actions  
The Bureau’s supervisory activities resulted in and supported the following enforcement action.  

4.1.1 MoneyGram International, Inc. and MoneyGram 
Payment Systems, Inc.  

On April 21, 2022, the CFPB and New York Attorney General Letitia James announced that they 
filed a lawsuit against MoneyGram International, Inc. and MoneyGram Payment Systems, Inc. 
(MoneyGram)—one of the largest remittance providers in the U.S.—for repeatedly violating 
various consumer financial protection laws.65   

CFPB examined MoneyGram between 2014 and 2016, and found multiple problems.  Then in 
2019, the CFPB did a subsequent exam to see if MoneyGram had fixed its problems.  In short, 
for more than five years, the CFPB worked with MoneyGram to fully comply with the law, but 
MoneyGram continually failed to do so.  

Specifically, the CFPB and New York Attorney General James allege: 

• MoneyGram failed to deliver remittance funds by a date promised to consumers and 
held up remittance transfers and refunds unnecessarily.  Holding the money in limbo 
resulted in needless delays and harmed or risked harm to consumers.  

• MoneyGram failed to adequately instruct or direct its employees on how to comply with 
certain laws on resolving disputes.  The company also failed to report the results of its 
error investigations to consumers and failed to provide adequate written explanation of 
its findings to consumers. 

•  MoneyGram failed to put in place policies and procedures designed to ensure 
compliance with certain record retention requirements.  MoneyGram also failed to retain 
evidence of its compliance with certain money-transferring requirements as required. 

65 A copy of the complaint is available at: cfpb_moneygram_complaint_2022-04.pdf (consumerfinance.gov) 
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The complaint seeks relief including damages and other monetary relief, an injunction to stop 
future violations, and imposition of civil money penalties.  The complaint is not a final finding or 
ruling that the defendants have violated the law. 

4.1.2 TransUnion Interactive, Inc. TransUnion, LLC, 
TransUnion, and John T. Danaher 

On April 12, 2022, the Bureau filed a complaint in federal court in the Northern District of 
Illinois against TransUnion, two of its subsidiaries, and longtime executive John Danaher for 
violating a 2017 law enforcement order, the CFPA’s prohibition on deceptive acts and practices, 
EFTA and its implementing Regulation E, and Regulation V.66  Chicago-based TransUnion is the 
parent company of one of the nation’s three largest credit reporting companies.  TransUnion 
collects consumer credit information, including borrowers’ payment histories, debt loads, 
maximum credit limits, names and address of current creditors, and other elements of their 
credit relationships.  Through its subsidiary, TransUnion Interactive, the company also markets, 
sells, and provides credit-related products directly to the public, such as credit scores, credit 
reports, and credit monitoring. 

The Bureau alleges that TransUnion, its subsidiaries, and former executive John Danaher 
violated a January 3, 2017, consent order which settled charges for deceptively marketing credit 
scores and credit-related products, including credit monitoring services.  As part of the 2017 
settlement, TransUnion agreed to pay $13.9 million in restitution to victims and $3 million in 
civil penalties.  TransUnion and its subsidiaries also agreed to a formal law enforcement order 
that, among other things, required the credit reporting company to warn consumers that lenders 
are not likely to use the scores they are supplying, obtain the express informed consent of 
customers for recurring payments for subscription products or services, and provide an easy way 
for people to cancel subscriptions.  The order was binding on the company, its board of 
directors, and its executive officers. 

In October 2018, the CFPB commenced an examination of TransUnion.  In May 2019, CFPB 
examiners informed TransUnion that it was violating multiple requirements of the order.  In 
these instances, companies typically work constructively with the CFPB to make quick fixes and 
come into compliance.  However, in June 2020, CFPB informed TransUnion that it was still 
violating the order and engaged in additional violations of law. 

In the April 12, 2022, complaint, the Bureau alleges that TransUnion and John Danaher 
engaged in multiple violations of law, including that TransUnion and Danaher violated the 2017 

66 The complaint is available at: https://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/cfpb_transunion_complaint_2022-
04.pdf  
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consent order; that TransUnion deceived customers through an array of digital dark patterns to 
trick people into recurring payments and to make it difficult to cancel them; and that 
TransUnion misrepresented numerous aspects of its products, services, and subscription plans, 
including that its credit monitoring service was a standalone credit score or credit report. 

The CFPB is seeking monetary relief for consumers, such as restitution or return of funds, 
disgorgement of compensation for unjust gains, injunctive relief, and civil money penalties.  The 
complaint is not a final finding or ruling that the defendants have violated the law. 

4.1.3 Edfinancial Services, LLC 
On March 30, 2022, the Bureau sanctioned Edfinancial Services, LLC, a student-loan servicer, 
for making deceptive statements to student loan borrowers and misrepresenting their 
forgiveness and repayment options to them.67  Edfinancial deceived borrowers, with Federal 
Family Education Loan Program (FFELP) loans about their eligibility for PSLF.  The Bureau is 
ordering the company to contact all affected borrowers, provide them with accurate 
information, and pay a $1 million civil money penalty. 

67 The Consent Order is available at:https://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/documents/cfpb_edfinancial-
services_consent-order_2022-03.pdf 
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